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1 So in original. 

lect Committee on Ethics’’ and ‘‘Clerk’’ for ‘‘Commit-

tee on Standards of Official Conduct’’. 

Subsec. (h)(1)(B). Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(1), struck out ‘‘of 

the United States’’ after ‘‘Judicial Conference’’. 

Subsecs. (i) to (k). Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(4)(G), added sub-

secs. (i) to (k). 

1989—Pub. L. 101–194 amended section generally, sub-

stituting subsecs. (a) to (h) for former subsecs. (a) to (f) 

which related, respectively, to persons filing with the 

clerk, persons filing with the Secretary, State copies, 

Committee copies, Federal Election Commission assist-

ance, and reporting forms, rules and regulations. 

1979—Subsec. (b). Pub. L. 96–19, § 4(b)(2), inserted ref-

erence to the National Commission on Air Quality. 

Subsec. (f). Pub. L. 96–19, § 9(a), substituted ‘‘the des-

ignated committee of the House of Representatives’’ 

for ‘‘the Clerk shall, after consultation with the des-

ignated committee of the House of Representatives’’. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 2005 AMENDMENT 

Pub. L. 109–55, title I, § 1003(b), Aug. 2, 2005, 119 Stat. 

572, provided that: ‘‘The amendment made by sub-

section (a) [amending this section] shall apply with re-

spect to reports filed under the Ethics in Government 

Act of 1978 [Pub. L. 95–521] for calendar year 2005 and 

each succeeding calendar year.’’ 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1989 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 101–194 effective Jan. 1, 1991, 

see section 204 of Pub. L. 101–194, set out as a note 

under section 101 of this Appendix. 

§ 104. Failure to file or filing false reports 

(a)(1) The Attorney General may bring a civil 
action in any appropriate United States district 
court against any individual who knowingly and 
willfully falsifies or who knowingly and will-
fully fails to file or report any information that 
such individual is required to report pursuant to 
section 102. The court in which such action is 
brought may assess against such individual a 
civil penalty in any amount, not to exceed 
$50,000. 

(2)(A) It shall be unlawful for any person to 
knowingly and willfully— 

(i) falsify any information that such person 
is required to report under section 102; and 

(ii) fail to file or report any information 
that such person is required to report under 
section 102. 

(B) Any person who— 
(i) violates subparagraph (A)(i) shall be fined 

under title 18, United States Code, imprisoned 
for not more than 1 year, or both; and 

(ii) violates subparagraph (A)(ii) shall be 
fined under title 18, United States Code. 

(b) The head of each agency, each Secretary 
concerned, the Director of the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics, each congressional ethics commit-
tee, or the Judicial Conference, as the case may 
be, shall refer to the Attorney General the name 
of any individual which such official or commit-
tee has reasonable cause to believe has willfully 
failed to file a report or has willfully falsified or 
willfully failed to file information required to be 
reported. Whenever the Judicial Conference re-
fers a name to the Attorney General under this 
subsection, the Judicial Conference also shall 
notify the judicial council of the circuit in 
which the named individual serves of the refer-
ral. 

(c) The President, the Vice President, the Sec-
retary concerned, the head of each agency, the 

Office of Personnel Management, a congres-
sional ethics committee, and the Judicial Con-
ference, may take any appropriate personnel or 
other action in accordance with applicable law 
or regulation against any individual failing to 
file a report or falsifying or failing to report in-
formation required to be reported. 

(d)(1) Any individual who files a report re-
quired to be filed under this title more than 30 
days after the later of— 

(A) the date such report is required to be 
filed pursuant to the provisions of this title 
and the rules and regulations promulgated 
thereunder; or 

(B) if a filing extension is granted to such in-
dividual under section 101(g), the last day of 
the filing extension period, 

shall, at the direction of and pursuant to regula-
tions issued by the supervising ethics office, pay 
a filing fee of $200. All such fees shall be depos-
ited in the miscellaneous receipts of the Treas-
ury. The authority under this paragraph to di-
rect the payment of a filing fee may be dele-
gated by the supervising ethics office in the ex-
ecutive branch to other agencies in the execu-
tive branch..1 

(2) The supervising ethics office may waive the 
filing fee under this subsection in extraordinary 
circumstances. 

(Pub. L. 95–521, title I, § 104, Oct. 26, 1978, 92 Stat. 
1832; Pub. L. 96–19, § 8(a), June 13, 1979, 93 Stat. 
41; Pub. L. 101–194, title II, § 202, Nov. 30, 1989, 103 
Stat. 1737; Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(1), (5), May 4, 1990, 
104 Stat. 152, 154; Pub. L. 101–650, title IV, § 405, 
Dec. 1, 1990, 104 Stat. 5124; Pub. L. 110–81, title 
VII, § 702, Sept. 14, 2007, 121 Stat. 775.) 

CODIFICATION 

Section was formerly classified to section 704 of Title 

2, The Congress. 

AMENDMENTS 

2007—Subsec. (a). Pub. L. 110–81 designated existing 

provisions as par. (1), substituted ‘‘$50,000’’ for 

‘‘$10,000’’, and added par. (2). 

1990—Subsec. (b). Pub. L. 101–650 inserted at end 

‘‘Whenever the Judicial Conference refers a name to 

the Attorney General under this subsection, the Judi-

cial Conference also shall notify the judicial council of 

the circuit in which the named individual serves of the 

referral.’’ 

Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(5)(A), substituted ‘‘Judicial Con-

ference’’ for ‘‘Chairman of the Judicial Conference’’. 

Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(1), struck out ‘‘of the United 

States’’ after ‘‘Judicial Conference’’. 

Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(1), struck out ‘‘of the 

United States’’ after ‘‘Judicial Conference’’. 

Subsec. (d)(1). Pub. L. 101–280, § 3(5)(B), substituted 

closing provisions for former closing provisions which 

read ‘‘shall pay a filing fee of $200 to the miscellaneous 

receipts of the General Treasury’’. 

1989—Pub. L. 101–194 amended section generally, sub-

stituting provisions relating to failure to file or filing 

false reports for provisions relating to accessibility of 

reports. See section 105 of this Appendix. 

1979—Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 96–19 designated existing 

provisions as par. (2) and added par. (1). 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1990 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 101–650 effective 90 days after 

Dec. 1, 1990, see section 407 of Pub. L. 101–650, set out as 
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a note under section 332 of Title 28, Judiciary and Judi-

cial Procedure. 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1989 AMENDMENT 

Amendment by Pub. L. 101–194 effective Jan. 1, 1991, 

see section 204 of Pub. L. 101–194, set out as a note 

under section 101 of this Appendix. 

§ 105. Custody of and public access to reports 

(a) Each agency, each supervising ethics office 
in the executive or judicial branch, the Clerk of 
the House of Representatives, and the Secretary 
of the Senate shall make available to the public, 
in accordance with subsection (b), each report 
filed under this title with such agency or office 
or with the Clerk or the Secretary of the Sen-
ate, except that— 

(1) this section does not require public avail-
ability of a report filed by any individual in 
the Office of the Director of National Intel-
ligence, the Central Intelligence Agency, the 
Defense Intelligence Agency, the National 
Geospatial-Intelligence Agency, or the Na-
tional Security Agency, or any individual en-
gaged in intelligence activities in any agency 
of the United States, if the President finds or 
has found that, due to the nature of the office 
or position occupied by such individual, public 
disclosure of such report would, be 1 revealing 
the identity of the individual or other sen-
sitive information, compromise the national 
interest of the United States; and such indi-
viduals may be authorized, notwithstanding 
section 104(a), to file such additional reports 
as are necessary to protect their identity from 
public disclosure if the President first finds or 
has found that such filing is necessary in the 
national interest; and 

(2) any report filed by an independent coun-
sel whose identity has not been disclosed by 
the division of the court under chapter 40 of 
title 28, United States Code, and any report 
filed by any person appointed by that inde-
pendent counsel under such chapter, shall not 
be made available to the public under this 
title. 

(b)(1) Except as provided in the second sen-
tence of this subsection, each agency, each su-
pervising ethics office in the executive or judi-
cial branch, the Clerk of the House of Represent-
atives, and the Secretary of the Senate shall, 
within thirty days after any report is received 
under this title by such agency or office or by 
the Clerk or the Secretary of the Senate, as the 
case may be,,2 permit inspection of such report 
by or furnish a copy of such report to any person 
requesting such inspection or copy. With respect 
to any report required to be filed by May 15 of 
any year, such report shall be made available for 
public inspection within 30 calendar days after 
May 15 of such year or within 30 days of the date 
of filing of such a report for which an extension 
is granted pursuant to section 101(g). The agen-
cy, office, Clerk, or Secretary of the Senate, as 
the case may be 3 may require a reasonable fee 
to be paid in any amount which is found nec-
essary to recover the cost of reproduction or 

mailing of such report excluding any salary of 
any employee involved in such reproduction or 
mailing. A copy of such report may be furnished 
without charge or at a reduced charge if it is de-
termined that waiver or reduction of the fee is 
in the public interest. 

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), a report 
may not be made available under this section to 
any person nor may any copy thereof be pro-
vided under this section to any person except 
upon a written application by such person stat-
ing— 

(A) that person’s name, occupation and ad-
dress; 

(B) the name and address of any other person 
or organization on whose behalf the inspection 
or copy is requested; and 

(C) that such person is aware of the prohibi-
tions on the obtaining or use of the report. 

Any such application shall be made available to 
the public throughout the period during which 
the report is made available to the public. 

(3)(A) This section does not require the imme-
diate and unconditional availability of reports 
filed by an individual described in section 109(8) 
or 109(10) of this Act if a finding is made by the 
Judicial Conference, in consultation with United 
States Marshall 4 Service, that revealing per-
sonal and sensitive information could endanger 
that individual or a family member of that indi-
vidual. 

(B) A report may be redacted pursuant to this 
paragraph only— 

(i) to the extent necessary to protect the in-
dividual who filed the report or a family mem-
ber of that individual; and 

(ii) for as long as the danger to such individ-
ual exists. 

(C) The Administrative Office of the United 
States Courts shall submit to the Committees 
on the Judiciary of the House of Representatives 
and of the Senate an annual report with respect 
to the operation of this paragraph including— 

(i) the total number of reports redacted pur-
suant to this paragraph; 

(ii) the total number of individuals whose re-
ports have been redacted pursuant to this 
paragraph; 

(iii) the types of threats against individuals 
whose reports are redacted, if appropriate; 

(iv) the nature or type of information re-
dacted; 

(v) what steps or procedures are in place to 
ensure that sufficient information is available 
to litigants to determine if there is a conflict 
of interest; 

(vi) principles used to guide implementation 
of redaction authority; and 

(vii) any public complaints received relating 
to redaction. 

(D) The Judicial Conference, in consultation 
with the Department of Justice, shall issue reg-
ulations setting forth the circumstances under 
which redaction is appropriate under this para-
graph and the procedures for redaction. 

(E) This paragraph shall expire on December 
31, 2011, and apply to filings through calendar 
year 2011. 
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